RECEIVED

03-26-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2018AP186-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

FREDERICK EUGENE WALKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone), Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Is Walker entitled to a new trial because he received ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to object at trial and move for a mistrial due to testimony from one witness, N.S., that the complaining witness, T.C.B., was telling the truth.

The trial court answered: no.

Is Walker is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice because of the improper admission of N.S.'s testimony that T.C.B. was telling the truth.

The trial court answered: no.

Is Walker entitled to a new trial because the circuit court erroneously exercised discretion in failing to allow Walker to counter T.C.B.'s testimony that she had obtained birth control because she was sexually active, with evidence that the sexual activity T.C.B. referenced was not with Walker.

The circuit court answered: no.

1

Did the circuit court err in denying Walker's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court did not consider this issue.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel would welcome oral argument should this Court determine that such argument would be helpful in addressing the issues presented in this brief.

Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal involves the application of well-established law to a particular set of facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State initially charged Walker with Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child. 5:1. The complaint alleged that Walker had sexual intercourse with T.C.B., the fifteen year old

daughter of his then girlfriend. 1:1-2. The State amended the original information to assert a charge of repeated sexual assault of a child. 14:1. After various pre-trial hearings, the matter proceeded to a two day jury trial wherein the jury found Walker guilty as charged in the amended information. 74:1-6. Following a pre-sentence investigation, the circuit court sentenced Walker to 17 years confinement and 10 years extended supervision. 29:1-Walker timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction 2.relief, 31:1-2, pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed initial postconviction counsel. Walker's initial postconviction counsel filed a No-Merit Notice of Appeal and a No Merit Report which this court rejected. 42:1-5. In rejecting the No Merit Report, this court identified the very issues brought forth in this appeal. 42:1-5. This court directed the SPD to consider appointment of new counsel, dismissed the no merit appeal, and enlarged the deadline to file a postconviction motion. 42:5. The SPD appointed the undersigned counsel as successor postconviction counsel for Walker. 47:1. By and through counsel,

Walker filed a postconviction motion which asserted the precise issues identified in this court's order rejecting the no merit report. 46:1-10. The circuit court denied the motion without an evidentiary or non-evidentiary hearing. 54:1-3; Ap.100-102. Walker filed a notice of appeal, 55:1, and these proceedings follow.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts pertaining to N.S.'s testimony that T.C.B. was telling the truth.

During its case-in-chief, the State called T.C.B. as a witness. 72:14. T.C.B. testified that on various occasions Walker touched her butt, 72:19-20, exposed his penis to her, 72:20, and engaged in sexual intercourse with her. 72:20. T.C.B. testified that she had sexual intercourse with Walker in her mother's bedroom, 72:20-21, twice in the dining room, 72:22-23,27, once in the living room, 72:28, and once in her bedroom. 72:29. T.C.B. testified that the intercourse was penis-to-vagina. 72:30. Following T.C.B.'s testimony, the State elicited testimony from T.C.B.'s mother, N.S., regarding the first time she had a conversation with T.C.B. about her allegations against Walker. 72:83. The State elicited the following testimony from N.S.:

Well, my emotions went—I just broke down crying. I didn't -that this can't—I don't—and so then when I went to the—I looked at her, and when I looked at her face, I'm like she doesn't lie. She's not going to lie. I'm like, I just can't believe—and I just honestly could not believe that the situation she was in took place. And quite honestly, just was baffled. I was stuck for a long time. Still kind of numb about the situation. But (T.C.B.) don't lie. 72:83;Ap.106-108.

Trial counsel failed to object or move for a mistrial in response to the testimony.

Facts pertaining to testimony that T.C.B. had obtained birth control because she was sexually active.

During T.C.B.'s testimony, the prosecutor asked T.C.B. if she

was using condoms during the alleged sexual intercourse with

Walker:

Q: Were you using condoms at all?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Whose condoms were they?

A: Since my dad asked me a question on a random day, he asked me was I having sex or being sexually active. I told him yeah. So him and his girlfriend took me and (T.) to Planned Parenthood. And they got me to take the Depo. shot. And they gave me the pill—I mean they gave me like the extra condoms in a bag. So I kept them in the top drawer.

So he went there. I actually went in my mom's room because I didn't need them. I wasn't doing anything. So it was like everytime he would do it, he would go into the drawer and take the condoms out of there. 72:26;Ap.110.

Following such testimony, trial counsel moved during a sidebar that Walker be allowed to introduce evidence to clarify that T.C.B. had obtained the condoms because she was sexually active with persons other than Walker:

When—when (T.C.B.) was testifying, she had been asked by the state about where the condoms came from. And she indicated that she had been asked by her father if she was sexually active. She said yes. He got her Depo shots and got her condoms And we had previously, I think properly, I was told, you know, we're not getting into her sexual history. I didn't have a problem with that. But when that comes out in front of the jury, it's not—it was never made clear to them. And I asked about it, and you said no. That I could get into, wait a minute, when she's talking about being sexually active here, he's (sic) not talking about being sexually active with the defendant, at least not according to all the police reports and things that I received.

And I felt that was prejudicial because it makes it appear as though she was being sexually active with the defendant and therefore that's why she was getting into birth control. At least, that's the impression that I think the jurors are left with. 73:3-4;Ap.104-105.

The circuit court denied Walker's motion to introduce evidence to counter T.C.B.'s testimony. 73:4;Ap.105.

Facts pertaining to Walker's postconviction motion.

Walker's motion for new trial asserted the following issues:

1. Walker received ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to object at trial and move for a mistrial due to the admission of testimony from one witness, N.S., that another witness, in this case the complaining witness, T.C.B., was telling the truth.

2. Walker is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice because of the improper admission of N.S.'s testimony that T.C.B. was telling the truth.

3. The circuit court erroneously exercised discretion in failing to allow Walker to counter T.C.B.'s testimony that she had obtained birth control because she was sexually active, with evidence that the sexual activity T.C.B. referenced was not with Walker. 46:1.

The motion requested an evidentiary hearing. 46:10. The circuit court denied the motion in a two and a half page decision. 54:1-3;Ap.100-102. The circuit court denied the motion without an evidentiary or non-evidentiary hearing. 54:1-3;Ap.100-102. The circuit court determined that it would have ruled against an objection or motion for mistrial based on N.S.'s testimony. 54:2;Ap.100-102. The circuit court found that N.S.'s testimony "was more about her own emotional struggle rather than vouching for her daughter's truthfulness," 54:2;Ap.100-102. The circuit court additionally found that N.S.'s testimony was proper under Wis. R. Evid. 906.08 "which permits evidence of character with regard to truthfulness or untruthfulness after an attack on a witness's character." 54:2;Ap.100-102. During opening statement, trial counsel emphasized that T.C.B. had given many different versions regarding her allegations that Walker had sexually assaulted her. 71:61-63. The circuit court found that such statements by trial counsel amounted to an "attack on the victim's credibility" so as to allow N.S.'s testimony. 54:2;Ap.100-102. For these reasons, the circuit court denied Walker's claims that he was entitled to a new trial on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel and in the interest of justice. 54:2;Ap.100-102. With respect to Walker's claim that the circuit court erred in refusing to allow him to counter T.C.B.'s testimony that she had obtained birth control because she was sexually active, with evidence that the sexual activity T.C.B. referenced was not with Walker, the circuit court determined that the evidence sought to be admitted by

Walker "would only have amounted to a fishing expedition into how the victim had been sexually active." 54:2;Ap.100-102. The circuit court determined that it "would not have allowed evidence of the victim's prior behavior under the rape shield law in this instance or any of its exceptions." 54:2;Ap.100-102.

ARGUMENT

I. Walker is entitled to a new trial because he received ineffective assistance of counsel and because the circuit court erred in excluding evidence regarding the complaining victim's sexual activity with others.

A. Walker received ineffective assistance of counsel in that trial counsel failed to object at trial and move for a mistrial due to N.S.'s testimony that T.C.B. was telling the truth.

Criminal defendants are constitutionally guaranteed the right to counsel under both the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Wis. Const. art. I, §7. The right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984) (citing *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759,

771 n.14 (1970)); State v. Trawitzki, 2001 WI 77, ¶39, 244 Wis.2d 523, 628 N.W.2d 801. In order to find that counsel rendered ineffective assistance, the defendant must show that trial counsel's representation was deficient. *Strickland*, 446 U.S. at 687. The defendant must also show that he or she was prejudiced by the deficient performance. Id. Counsel's conduct is constitutionally deficient if it falls below an objective standard of When evaluating counsel's reasonableness. *Id.* at 688. performance, courts are to be "highly deferential" and must avoid the "distorting effects of hindsight." Id. at 689. "Counsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally State v. Williquette, 180 Wis.2d 589, 605, 510 adequate." N.W.2d 708 (1993). In order to demonstrate that counsel's deficient performance is constitutionally prejudicial, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the

10

outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The focus of this inquiry is not on the outcome of the trial, but on "the reliability of the proceedings." *State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis.2d 628, 642, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact. *Trawitzki*, 244 Wis.2d 523, ¶19. This court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Findings of fact include "the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis.2d 509, 514 n.2, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992). Whether counsel's performance satisfies the constitutional standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law subject to de novo review. *Id.*

The rule is long established that "[n]o witness, expert or otherwise should be permitted to give an opinion that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth." See *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis.2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984). Indeed, Wisconsin courts have recognized that testimony from one witness that another witness is telling the truth can interfere with the jury's role and require reversal in the interest of justice. See State v. Romero, 147 Wis.2d 264, 277-278, 432 N.W.2d 899 (1988) (erroneously admitted testimony from social worker and police officer that victim was being honest required a new trial in the interest of justice); see also, State v. *Echols*, 2013 WI App 58, ¶¶ 26-27, 348 Wis.2d 81, 831 N.W.2d 768 (error to deny motion for mistrial after lay witness testified that defendant stutters when lying, particularly in a case that depends substantially on a credibility assessment); see also, State v. Tutlewski, 231 Wis.2d 379,391, 605 N.W.2d 561 (1999)(testimony by one witness that complaining witnesses were incapable of lying constituted reversible error). N.S.'s testimony was the type of evidence prohibited by *Haseltine*, *Romero*, *Tutlewski* and *Echols*. N.S. presented to the jury testimony that T.C.B. was telling the truth regarding her allegations against Walker. N.S. in fact repeated three times that T.C.B. "doesn't lie," "don't lie," and is "not Haseltine, Romero, Tutlewski and Echols were going to lie". published decisions that existed well before this case went to trial.

As such, trial counsel should have known that he had a viable basis under Wisconsin law to object to N.S.'s testimony and move for a mistrial because of it. Trial counsel's failure to do so was objectively unreasonable and deficient. The circuit court however disagreed. In denying Walker's motion, the circuit court determined that it would have rejected an objection or motion for mistrial based on N.S's testimony. 54:2;Ap.100-102.¹ In making such determination, the circuit court determined that N.S.'s testimony "was more about her own emotional struggle rather than vouching for her daughter's truthfulness." 54:2;Ap.100-102. This determination was erroneous. To the extent such finding by the circuit constituted a factual finding that N.S. did not vouch for T.C.B.'s truthfulness, such determination was clearly erroneous. N.S. plainly vouched for T.C.B.'s truthfulness. She did so three That N.S.'s testimony also pertained to her "emotional times. struggle" did not negate the fact that it constituted impermissible testimony that her daughter was telling the truth. If anything,

¹ Walker interprets the circuit court's determination in this regard to be a finding the trial counsel was not deficient. In making the determination, the circuit court adopted the first argument advanced by the State in its response to Walker's motion for new trial, that trial counsel was not deficient. See 51:3-7.

N.S.'s "emotional struggle" enhanced the problematic nature of her testimony that T.C.B. wasn't lying. A juror could reasonably infer from N.S.'s testimony that as T.C.B.'s mother she knew T.C.B. better than anyone, that she knew if T.C.B. was lying or telling the truth, and that the jury should believe T.C.B. because T.C.B. "doesn't lie" and is "not going to lie." If the testimony from a social worker and police officer that an alleged victim is telling the truth is inadmissible, see *Echols* supra, so too is testimony from an alleged victim's mother. After all, a parent's testimony would reasonably have a more emotional or visceral appeal to a jury than that of a social worker, police officer or other professional. With respect to the circuit court's determination that trial counsel, in opening statement, made an "attack on the victim's credibility" so as to allow N.S.'s testimony about her daughter's truthfulness, 54:2;Ap.100-102, such determination was also erroneous.² Wis. R. Evid. 906.08(1)(b) provides in relevant part as follows:

² To the extent that such finding by the circuit court constituted a factual finding regarding trial counsel's actions, such finding was clearly erroneous.

...evidence of truthful character is admissible only after the character of the witness for truthfulness has been attacked by opinion or reputation evidence or otherwise.

Trial counsel never once attacked T.C.B.'s credibility during opening statement. Trial counsel never suggested that T.C.B. in general had an overall propensity or character for lying and that she was therefore lying in this instance. All trial counsel did was indicate to the jury that T.C.B. had given inconsistent statements and different versions of what happened with respect to her interaction with Walker. 71:61-63. This is different from attacking T.C.B.'s credibility in general. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court held in State v. Eugenio, 219 Wis.2d 391, 402, 579 N.W.2d 642 (1998), rehabilitative evidence under Rule 906.08(1) is only appropriate where an attack on the witness involves the assertion "that the witness is not only lying in this instance, but is a liar generally." Italics added. Trial counsel for Walker did not in any way assert or even suggest that TCB was a liar generally. Counsel, at most, challenged the consistency and veracity of the allegations that TCB made in connection with this case. 71:61-63. Such challenge was not an assertion that TCB was a "liar

15

generally" such that Rule 906.08(1) allowed for evidence of the witness's character for truthfulness. Moreover, N.S.'s testimony went beyond character for truthfulness. N.S.'s testimony expressly conveyed to the jury that T.C.B.'s accusations against Walker were The testimony implicitly conveyed to the jury that it too true. should believe T.C.B. As this court recognized in *Haseltine*, "[t]he jury is the lie detector in the courtroom." See State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis.2d 92, 96 citing United States v. Barnard, 490 F.2d 907, Indeed, it is well established that the 912 (9th Cir. 1973). credibility of a witness is left to the jury's judgment. See *State v.* Friedrich, 135 Wis.2d 1, 16, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987). N.S.'s testimony had the effect of invading the jury's province and usurping its role in assessing issues of credibility and truthfulness. Trial counsel should have recognized the problematic nature of the testimony as such, objected to it, and moved for a mistrial. Instead, trial counsel did nothing. This court must conclude that under Haseltine, Romero, Tutlewski, and *Echols*, such failure amounted to deficient performance.

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