### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-11-2018

### COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP186-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FREDERICK EUGENE WALKER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

### STATE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Jurors are presumed to follow instructions. *Miller*, 341 Wis. 2d 737, ¶ 22. Here, the circuit court's instructions on credibility alleviated "the likelihood that jurors placed any significant weight on [N.S.]'s comments other than the weight that came from their own independent examination of the evidence." Id. (principle applied in response to challenge to prosecutor's remarks in closing argument).

Finally, the trial evidence as a whole supported Walker's conviction and minimized any prejudice that flowed from NS's isolated statements that TCB does not lie.

TCB testified to Walker's assaults of her. While TCB initially reported a single assault (R. 72:56–57), she eventually reported that Walker had assaulted her on several occasions at several locations inside her family's apartment (R. 72:21–32). The jury also heard about TCB's disclosures to a coach (R. 72:7), her sister (R. 72:71), and her mother (R. 72:84). Walker's counsel cross-examined TCB and other witnesses, including her sister and officers, about TCB's different statements. (R. 72:10, 57–60, 73–74, 113–14.)

An officer testified that delayed disclosures are common in cases involving child sexual assault, often due to threats or worry about how a parent will handle it. (R.72:99; 73:8, 13.) Further, delayed disclosures are often piecemeal, with the victim initially disclosing only a portion of what happened and disclosing more information later. (R. 72:100; 73:17–18.) That TCB's disclosures here were delayed and piecemeal was not unusual and was consistent with other disclosures that the officer observed in her experience. (R. 73:19.)

While there was no physical evidence to corroborate TCB's allegations, Walker's own statements did. TCB reported that she disclosed the assault to her cousin N. (R. 72:34–35, 54.) While N did not testify, the jury heard a recorded telephone conversation between Walker and TCB, who told Walker that N is the only person that TCB told. Walker was clearly upset and asked TCB why she told N, expressing that he could go to jail as a result. (R. 18:2–3.) While TCB and Walker did not specifically discuss sex during this telephone conversation, TCB testified at trial that she was talking to Walker about the sex that she had with him when she lived on 39th Street. (R. 72:36, 40-41.) And while the conversation between TCB and Walker was vague, what is clear is that, Walker did not accuse TCB of lying. Instead, he expressed his fear that what TCB told N could result in his incarceration. On this record, the jury could reasonably infer that Walker's statement about jail is an implicit admission that he sexually assaulted TCB.

Relying on *Earls v. McCaughtry*, 379 F.3d 489 (7th Cir. 2004), Walker asserts that NS's statements prejudiced him. (Walker's Br. 18–19.) In *Earls*, the State asked a forensic interviewer several questions related to whether the victim was being truthful with her. *Earls*, 379 F.3d at 493. When the jury saw the videotaped interview, it heard the interviewer make several comments that reflected on the victim's truthfulness, and which the circuit court had ordered redacted. *Id.* Further, the State asked the victim's family members whether they believed that the victim was truthful and whether the victim had any reason to make up the story. *Id.* at 494.

Earls provides no persuasive value for Walker. Here, the State did not present expert witness testimony that suggested that TCB was being truthful or question family members about TCB's reputation for truthfulness. Rather, NS's comments about TCB not lying arose at a single point in the trial when the prosecutor asked NS to testify as to their emotional states when TCB disclosed the assault.

This is not a case where NS's statements at a single moment in a trial created "too great a possibility that the jury abdicated its fact-finding role to the witness and did not independently find [Walker]'s guilt." *Patterson*, 329 Wis. 2d 599, ¶ 58. Based on this record, there is no reasonable probability that the jury would have found Walker not guilty had his counsel objected to N.S.'s testimony.

In sum, the record conclusively demonstrates that trial counsel's failure to object to NS's testimony was neither deficient nor prejudicial. The circuit court properly denied Walker's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without a hearing.

II. Walker has not demonstrated that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it prohibited Walker from asking TCB about her statement about being sexually active.

### A. Standard of review and general legal principles.

The decision to admit evidence is subject to the circuit court's exercise of discretion. This Court will not disturb the circuit court's decision to admit evidence unless the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it applied a wrong legal standard or the facts of record fail to support the circuit court's decision. *State v. Ringer*, 2010 WI 69, ¶ 24, 326 Wis. 2d 351, 785 N.W.2d 448.

Wisconsin's rape shield statute, Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2), "generally prohibits the introduction of any evidence of the complainant's prior sexual conduct 'regardless of the purpose." *Ringer*, 326 Wis. 2d 351, ¶ 25 (quoting section 972.11(2)(c)). Section 972.11(2)(a) defines sexual conduct to include "any conduct or behavior relating to sexual activities of the complaining witness, including but not limited to prior experience of sexual intercourse or sexual contact, use of contraceptives, living arrangement and life-style." *Id*.

Section 972.11(2) serves "to counteract outdated beliefs that a complainant's sexual past could shed light on the truthfulness of sexually assault allegations." Ringer, 326 Wis. 2d 351, ¶ 25 (citation omitted). "The law reflects the legislature's determination that evidence of a complainant's prior sexual conduct is largely irrelevant or, if relevant, substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect." Id. ¶ 25 (citation omitted).

Evidence of a victim's prior sexual conduct may be admissible if three criteria are met. First, the proffered evidence must fit within section 972.11(2)(b)'s recognized exceptions. These exception include "[e]vidence of the complaining witness's past conduct with the defendant"; "[e]vidence of specific instances of sexual conduct showing the source or origin of semen, pregnancy or disease, for use in determining the degree of sexual assault or the extent of the injury suffered"; and "[e]vidence of prior untruthful allegations of sexual assault made by the complaining witness." Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2)(b)1.-3. Second, assuming that the evidence fits within a recognized exception, the evidence must be material to a fact at issue in the case. Third, "the evidence is of sufficient probative value to outweigh its inflammatory and prejudicial nature." Ringer, 326 Wis. 2d  $351, \P\P 3, 26-27.3$ 

Evidence otherwise barred by the rape shield statute may also be admissible under the curative admissibility doctrine. Under that doctrine, when a "party accidentally or purposefully takes advantage of a piece of evidence that is otherwise inadmissible," the circuit court may exercise its discretion and "allow the opposing party to introduce otherwise inadmissible evidence if it is required by the concept of fundamental fairness to cure some unfair prejudice." *State v. Dunlap*, 2002 WI 19, ¶ 32, 250 Wis. 2d 466, 640 N.W.2d 112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Circumstances may arise in which section 972.11(2)'s application impermissibly abridges an accused's right to present a defense. *State v. Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 647–48, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990). Walker does not argue that the circuit court's decision that foreclosed him from asking TCB further questions about birth control intruded on his constitutional right to present a defense. Therefore, the State does not address Walker's claim under a *Pullizano* analysis.

B. The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion when it denied Walker's request to ask TCB about prior sexual activity after TCB explained where Walker got the condoms that he used when he assaulted her.

The circuit court determined that TCB's explanation about where she got the condoms did not prejudice Walker and declined to allow Walker to question TCB about her sexual activity. (R. 73:4.) In its decision and order denying postconviction relief, the circuit court stated that it would not have allowed evidence of TCB's prior behavior under the rape shield law in this instance or under its exceptions. (R. 54:3.) The circuit court noted, "It is unknown what prior acts would have been alluded to in this case, but it would only have amounted to a fishing expedition into how the victim had been sexually active." (R. 54:3.) The record supports the circuit court's determination that the evidence was not admissible under section 972.11(2) or the curative admissibility doctrine. (R. 54:3.)

At trial, TCB stated that she used condoms. (R. 72:26.) The prosecutors asked where she got the condoms. TCB answered the question rather circuitously.

Since my dad asked me a question on a random day, he asked me was I having sex or being sexually active. And I told him yeah. So him and his girlfriend took me and [twin sister] to Planned Parenthood. And they got me to take the Depo shot. And they gave me the pill—I mean they gave me like the extra condoms in a bag. So I kept them in the top drawer.

So he went there. I actually went in my mom's room because I didn't need them. I wasn't doing anything. So it was like every time he would do it, he would go into the drawer and take the condoms out of there.

(R. 72:26.)

After a brief, unrecorded sidebar at trial counsel's request, the prosecutor resumed his examination and did not question TCB about birth control. (R. 72:26–27.) The following day, Walker's counsel explained that he should have been allowed to explore TCB's sexual history based on TCB's testimony about being sexually active. Walker asserted that TCB's testimony was prejudicial because "it makes it appear as though [TCB] was being sexually active with the defendant and therefore that's why she was getting into the birth control." (R. 73:4.) The prosecutor disagreed. "I think the jury took it as she was sexually active with somebody else." (R. 73:4.)

First, Walker's desire to question TCB further about her sexual activity with others implicated the rape shield law. Questioning TCB about whether she was having sexual activity with another person does not fall within any of the three exceptions recognized in section 972.11(2)(b). It is not evidence of TCB's past sexual conduct with the defendant. It is not evidence that shows the source of or origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease. It does not impact the degree of sexual assault or extent of injury suffered. It is not evidence that TCB made a prior, untruthful allegation of a sexual assault. Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2)(b)1.-3. But even if such questioning would have fit within one of section 971.11(2)(b)'s exceptions, the fact that TCB may have been sexually active with others was not material to the issue of whether Walker had repeatedly sexually assaulted her. Further, the evidence was simply not of "sufficient probative value to outweigh its inflammatory and prejudicial nature." Ringer, 326 Wis. 2d 351, ¶¶ 3, 26-27.

Second, TCB's testimony about birth control did not render otherwise inadmissible evidence admissible under the curative admissibility doctrine. The prosecutor simply asked TCB where Walker got the condom. TCB explained that she obtained the condoms and other birth control services after she told her father that she was sexually active. (R. 72:26.) TCB's testimony that she told her father that she was sexually active did not implicate Walker. In fact, TCB was insistent that she never told anyone about her sexual contact with Walker until she disclosed it to her cousin N. (R. 72:35, 52.) Further, TCB's response prompted her father to take both TCB and her twin sister, who insisted that Walker never acted inappropriately around her, to the clinic. So when TCB told her father that she was sexually active, jurors hearing her testimony would reasonably believe that she was sexually active with someone other than Walker.

Dunlap controls here. In Dunlap, the defendant sought to introduce evidence of a child's other inappropriate sexual activity to counter certain expert witness testimony by demonstrating that a child had detailed and unexplained sexual knowledge. Dunlap, 250 Wis. 2d 466, ¶¶ 7–8. That proffered evidence was not admissible under the curative admissibility doctrine to counter certain expert testimony. In reaching this determination, the supreme court noted that the expert did not opine on the veracity of the victim's allegations. Id. ¶¶ 40–41. Similarly, TCB's statement about being sexually active did not implicate Walker and did not open the door to further inquiry into other sexual activity.

Walker suggests that he should have been allowed to examine TCB about her sexual activity because, "[a]fter all, the use of contraception is consistent with sexual activity." (Walker's Br. 23.) But this argument ignores the very purpose of the rape shield law. A child's explanation about where she obtained the condoms that an assailant used does not provide a justification for overriding the strong legislative principles underlying the rape shield law, including the legislative determination that evidence of a victim's contraceptive use or

other sexual activity is simply irrelevant in a sexual assault prosecution. See Wis. Stat. § 972.11(2)(a).

In sum, Walker cannot show that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in declining Walker's request to probe TCB on her comment about being sexually active. But if this Court disagrees, the error was harmless, as discussed below.

# C. Any error in excluding evidence related to TCB's sexual activity with others was harmless.

"An erroneous exercise of discretion in admitting or excluding evidence does not necessarily lead to a new trial. The appellate court must conduct a harmless error analysis to determine whether the error 'affected the substantial rights of the party." *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 30, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 629 N.W.2d 698. An error is harmless if it did not affect a party's substantial rights. *Id.* "An error affects the substantial rights of a party if there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome." *State v. Kleser*, 2010 WI 88, ¶ 94, 328 Wis. 2d 42, 786 N.W.2d 144.

Here, TCB stated that she was "sexually active" in response to the prosecutor's question about where Walker got the condoms. Nothing about TCB's answer suggests that she told her father that she was sexually active because of Walker and the jury could have just as easily inferred that she was sexually active with others. TCB made her unsolicited statement about being sexually active once at Walker's trial. The State did not attempt to exploit TCB's comment, either through its examination of other witnesses or in closing argument.

Further, when viewing TCB's statement in the context of the evidence as a whole, the error was harmless. <sup>4</sup> As the State demonstrated in section I.C., above, the State presented strong evidence of Walker's guilt including TCB's testimony, testimony concerning her disclosures to her coach, her twin sister, and her mother, and the recorded telephone call in which Walker asserts that TCB's statements to her cousin could result in his incarceration.

The State did not present its case in a vacuum. Rather, Walker vigorously challenged the truthfulness of TCB's allegations about Walker. In his opening statement, Walker's counsel noted that TCB's version of the truth shifted, changed, and varied. Through his examination of TCB and other witnesses, he identified inconsistencies in TCB's statements to others and at trial. He also identified potential motives for TCB's allegations.

The jury had the opportunity to consider TCB's allegations against a strong challenge to her credibility. On this record, any error in the circuit court's decision to foreclose further inquiry into TCB's uninvited comment that she was sexually active did not create a reasonable probability of a different outcome at Walker's trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The same evidence that supports the State's position that NS's isolated statements about TCB's truthfulness did not prejudice Walker also supports the State's position that TCB's testimony about being sexually active did not prejudice Walker. The harmless error analysis is "essentially consistent" with the *Strickland* test for actual prejudice. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 41, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. The only distinction is that the defendant bears the burden of proving prejudice in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Id*.

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